IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Appellant

vs.

JEFFREY SCOTT RATNER,

Appellee.

CASE NOS.: SC05-1007 & SC05-1009 (CONSOLIDATED)

L.T. NO.: 4D04-2513

APPELLANT'S INITIAL BRIEF

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR. ATTORNEY GENERAL Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA TERENZIO
BUREAU CHIEF, WEST PALM BEACH
Florida Bar No. 0656879
RICHARD VALUNTAS
Florida Bar No. 0151084
Assistant Attorney Generals
1515 North Flagler Drive
9th Floor
West Palm Beach, FL 33401
(561) 837-5000

Counsel for Appellant

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
SUMMARY ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
POINT I
SHOULD THE DECISION OF THE UNTIED STATES SUPREME COURT IN CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) BE INTERPRETED TO PRECLUDE THE ADMISSION OF A STATEMENT WHICH WOULD OTHERWISE BE ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE EXCITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION TO HEARSAY? 4 -
POINT II
DO FLORIDA RULES OF APPELLATE PROCEDURE 9.030(B)(4), 9.140(C)(2), AND 9.160 PROVIDE A DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WITH DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION OVER A NON-FINAL COUNTY COURT ORDER (OTHERWISE APPEALABLE TO THE CIRCUIT COURT) WHICH CERTIFIES A QUESTION OF GREAT PUBLIC IMPORTANCE?
POINT III
THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 924.07(1) OF THE FLORIDA STATUTES RELIED UPON THE STATE IN THIS CASE ARE NOT UNCONSTITUTIONAL AS TO CERTAIN APPEALS TO DISTRICT
COURTS OF APPEAL
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE
CEDTTETCATE OF COMDITANCE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Cited Page Number

Anderson v. State, 111 P.3d 350 (Alaska Ct. App. 2005)

Bray v. Commonwealth, 2005 Ky. LEXIS 288 (Ky. Sept. 22, 2005)

City of Miami v. McGrath, 824 So. 2d 143 (Fla. 2002)

Commonwealth v. Gonsalves, 833 N.E.2d 549 (Mass. 2005)

Commonwealth v. Gray, 867 A.2d 560 (Pa. Super. Ct. 2005)

Commonwealth v. Salaam, 65 Va. Cir. 405 (Va. Cir. Ct. 2004)

Compan v. State, 2005 Colo. LEXIS 873 (Colo. Oct. 3, 2005)

Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004)

Demons v. State, 595 S.E.2d 76 (Ga. 2004)

Demps v. State, 761 So. 2d 302 (Fla. 2000)

Dickerson v. State, 783 So. 2d 1144 (Fla. 4th DCA 2001)

Fowler v. State, 829 N.E.2d 459 (Ind. 2005)

Hall v. State, 752 So. 2d 575 (Fla. 2000)

Hammon v. State, 809 N.E.2d 945 (Ind. Ct. App. 2004)

Herrera-Vega v. State, 888 So. 2d 66 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004)

Howard v. State, 902 So. 2d 878 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005)

Jacobsen v. Ross Stores, 882 So. 2d 431 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)

Leavitt v. Arave, 371 F.3d 663 (9th Cir. 2004)

Lopez v. State, 888 So. 2d 693 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)

Marquardt v. State, 2005 Md. App. LEXIS 188
 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. Sept. 8, 2005)

McGauley v. State, 638 So. 2d 973 (Fla. 4th DCA 1994)

McKinney v. Bruce, 125 Fed. Appx. 947 (10th Cir. 2005)

Montano v. State, 846 So. 2d 677 (Fla. 4th DCA 2003)

Morris v. State, 727 So. 2d 975 (Fla. 5th DCA 1999)

Moss v. State, 664 So. 2d 1061 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)

Mungo v. Duncan, 393 F.3d 327 (2d Cir. 2004)

Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980)

People v. Cage, 120 Cal. App. 4th 770 (Cal. App. 2004)

People v. Conyers, 777 N.Y.S.2d 274 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2004)

People v. Isaac, 4 Misc. 3d 1001A (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2004)

People v. Mileski, 2004 Mich. App. LEXIS 3002
(Mich. Ct. App. Nov. 4, 2004)

People v. Moore, 117 P.3d 1 (Colo. Ct. App. 2004)

People v. Moscat, 777 N.Y.S.2d 875 (N.Y. Crim. Ct. 2004)

Rogers v. State, 660 So. 2d 234 (Fla. 1995)

Stancil v. United States, 866 A.2d 799 (D.C. 2005)

State v. Aguilar, 107 P.3d 377 (Ariz. Ct. App. 2005)

State v. Brigham, 694 So. 2d 793 (Fla. 2d DCA 1997)

State v. Cunningham, 99 P.3d 271 (Ore. 2005)

State v. Forrest, 596 S.E.2d 22 (N.C. Ct. App. 2004)

State v. Green, 874 A.2d 750 (Conn. 2005)

State v. Bagley, 697 So. 2d 1246 (Fla. 5th DCA 1997)

State v. Barnes, 854 A.2d 208 (Me. 2004)

State v. Branch, 865 A.2d 673 (N.J. 2005)

State v. Davis, 613 S.E.2d 760 (S.C. Ct. App. 2005)

State v. Doe, 103 P.3d 967 (Idaho Ct. App. 2004)

State v. Ferguson, 607 S.E.2d 526 (W. Va. 2004)

State v. Frazier, 753 So. 2d 644 (Fla. 5th DCA 2000)

State v. Gaines, 770 So. 2d 1221 (Fla. 2000)

State v. Hembertt, 696 N.W.2d 473 (Neb. 2005)

State v. Kinner, 398 So. 2d 1360 (Fla. 1981)

State v. Manuel, 697 N.W.2d 811 (Wis. 2005)

State v. Muldowny, 871 So. 2d 911 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004)

State v. Orndorff, 95 P.3d 406 (Wash. Ct. App. 2004)

State v. Primo, 2005 Ohio App. LEXIS 3576 (Ohio Ct. App. Aug. 1, 2005)

State v. Rasmussen, 644 So. 2d 1389 (Fla. 1st DCA 1994)

State v. Ratner, 902 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005)

State v. Slaney, 653 So. 2d 422 (Fla. 3d DCA 1995)

State v. Smith, 260 So. 2d 489 (Fla. 1972)

State v. Spiegel, 710 So. 2d 13 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)

State v. T.G., 800 So. 2d 204 (Fla. 2001)

State v. Warsame, 701 N.W.2d 305 (Minn. Ct. App. 2005)

State v. Wilkinson, 879 A.2d 445 (Vt. 2005)

State v. Wright, 701 N.W.2d 802 (Minn. 2005)

Stoll v. State, 762 So. 2d 870 (Fla. 2000)

Sweat v. State, 895 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005)

Towbridge v. State, 898 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005)

Werley v. State, 814 So. 2d 1159 (Fla. 1st DCA 2002)

Williams v. State, 909 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005)

Williams v. State, 714 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)

United States v. Alexander, 331 F.3d 116 (D.C. Cir. 2003)

United States v. Brun, 416 F.3d 703 (8th Cir. 2005)

United States v. Hinton, 423 F.3d 355 (3d Cir. 2005)

United States v. Joy, 192 F.3d 761 (7th Cir. 1999)

United States v. Luciano, 414 F.3d 174 (1st Cir. 2005)

Weiand v. State, 732 So. 2d 1044 (Fla. 1999)

Williams v. State, 714 So. 2d 462 (Fla. 3d DCA 1997)

Other Authorities

Art. V, § 5(b), Fla. Const.

§ 90.803(2), Fla. Stat.

§ 924.07(1)(h), Fla. Stat.

§ 924.07(1)(1), Fla. Stat.

Fla. R. App. P. 9.030(b)(4)(B)

Fla. R. App. P. 9.140(c)(2)

Fla. R. App. P. 9.160(e)(2)

6 Wigmore, <u>Evidence in Trials at Common Law</u> § 1750 (Chadborne Revision 1976)

Dombrowsky, Alexander, Whether the Constitutionality of the Violence Against Women Act Will Further Federal Prosecution from Sexual Orientation Crimes, 54 U. Miami L. Rev. 587 (2000)

Ehrhardt, Charles, Florida Evidence § 803.2 (2005 ed.)

Krischer, Adam M., <u>Though Justice May Be Blind, It Is Not Stupid: Applying Common Sense to Crawford in Domestic Violence Cases</u>, 38-DEC Prosecutor 14, 15-16 (2004)

Lininger, Tom, <u>Evidentiary Issues in Federal Prosecutions of</u> Violence Against Women, 36 Ind. L. Rev. 687, 709 n.76 (2003)

Selden, Shannon, <u>The Practice of Domestic Violence</u>, 12 UCLA Women's L.J. 1 (2001)

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Appellant, the State of Florida, is the prosecution in the trial court and was the appellant in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Appellant will be referred to herein as "appellant" or "the State." Appellee, Jeffrey Scott Ratner, is the defendant in the trial court and was the appellee in the Fourth District Court of Appeal. Appellee will be referred to as "appellee."

In this brief, the following symbols will be used:

R = Record on Appeal

T = 6/11/04 Hearing Transcript

SR = Supplemental Record

SUMMARY ARGUMENT

This Court should hold that excited utterances remain admissible in the wake of Crawford because thev nontestimonial statements relating to a startling event condition made while the declarant was under the stress excitement caused by the event or condition. The decision in Crawford does not apply to nontestimonial hearsay statements; Crawford, by its own express terms, applies only to the use of testimonial hearsay statements. This Court should follow the multitude of decisions from various federal and state courts holding that Crawford does not preclude the admission of excited utterances into evidence. In addition, Florida's public policy strongly favors the use of excited utterances in domestic violence cases. Finally, appellee waived his right to crossexamine the victim under the "forfeiture by wrongdoing" rule. Point II Since the State can appeal the trial court's ruling to the circuit court under Rule 9.140(c)(2) and sections 924.071(h) (1) of the Florida Statues, the Fourth District had jurisdiction over this case under Rule 9.030(b)(4)(B) because the trial court certified a question of great public importance. The interplay between Rule 9.030(b)(4)(B) and Rule Point III 9.140(c)(2) provides district courts of appeal jurisdiction over any non-final county court order, otherwise appealable to the

circuit court, where the county court has certified a question of great public importance. The Fourth District's decision in this case must be reversed because sections 924.07(1)(h) and (l) of the Florida Statutes are constitutional as applied in this case.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

Appellee was charged with domestic battery for striking his wife, Diane Ratner (the victim). (R. 11). After the battery occurred, the victim (who was bleeding all over) fled the residence. (R. 69-70). The victim went to the public safety department, which was less than one-quarter of a mile away. Id. The victim approached Officer Darville in the public safety department's parking lot. (R. 3, 50-51). Both of the victim's eyes were swollen, and she was bleeding from her eyebrow. (R. 50). The victim's nose was also swollen and bleeding. Id. The victim was crying, excited, and upset when she told Officer Darville that appellee punched her and kicked her in the face. (R. 3, 50, 68-70, 87-89, 190). The victim refused to give a sworn statement and eventually recanted/revised her prior statements to law enforcement. (R. 60-67, 70-73).

In a deposition, Officer Darville testified he met appellee and the victim prior to the incident in this case. (SR. 6).

Officer Darville met appellee and the victim when he responded

as backup officer to a prior incident. <u>Id.</u> Officer Darville was not familiar with the specifics of the prior incident, but he believed a lieutenant was there to arrest appellee. (SR. 6-7). As Officer Darville was sitting in his police car outside the police station, he saw the victim pull into the parking lot, get out of her car, and start walking toward him. (SR. 8). It was apparent that the victim had been battered or had an accident because her eyes were swollen, she was bleeding from her eyebrow, and she was crying. <u>Id.</u>

Officer Darville exited his vehicle and his exact words to the victim were "my goodness, what happened to you?" Id. The victim stated she wanted to report that appellee beat her up, punched her, knocked her down, and kicked her in the face. (SR. 9). The victim, who was bleeding from the nose and eyebrow, was upset and crying when she made the statement to Officer Darville. (SR. 12-13). The victim stated the incident just happened at her residence, which was approximately one minute away from the police station. (SR. 35-36). Officer Darville escorted the victim and her son into the police station and had the dispatcher call for medical assistance. (SR. 14). The victim would not give Officer Darville a written statement. (SR. 15-16).

The victim refused to go to the hospital and became uncooperative. (SR. 16-17). The paramedics arrived and treated the victim. (SR. 18). The police eventually escorted the victim back home, and appellee was standing in the garage. (SR. 20). Officer Darville asked appellee what happened to the victim. Id. Appellee stated he would rather not say anything and asked to call an attorney on the telephone. Id. As the victim was brining her dog back into the house appellee looked at the victim and asked "how could you do this to me?" (SR. 24). The victim dropped her head, would not look appellee in the eye, and walked past him into the house. Id. Appellee was arrested for domestic battery. (SR. 21).

At or around the time of appellee's arrest, the victim's attitude changed. (SR. 22-23). The victim stated she did not want to press charges against appellee, and she said she was recanting her earlier statement. <u>Id.</u> The victim had a fearful demeanor. (SR. 24). The victim stated that appellee was her husband and that she loved him. (SR. 22-23).

The State filed a motion in limine requesting that the victim's statement to Officer Darville be admitted into evidence under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. (R. 87-89). The trial court held a hearing on the matter and the parties exhaustively briefed the issue. (R. 87-89, 137-141,

148-195, 198-203, 204-215). Appellee argued the decision in Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) precluded the admission of the victim's hearsay statements as evidence under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. The State argued Crawford did not preclude the admission of the victim's statements because they were excited utterances, which are nontestimonial.

On June 22, 2004, the trial court entered an amended order denying the State's motion in limine based upon the decision in (R. 218-219). The trial court acknowledged the Crawford. "potentially wide-ranging implications" of its ruling, "especially as [it] pertains to cases of Domestic Violence," and certified the following question of great public importance: "Should the decision of the United States Supreme Court Crawford v. Washington (2004 WL 413301) be interpreted preclude admission of a statement which would otherwise be admissible under the excited utterance exception to hearsay?" The State appealed the trial court's order. The Fourth Id. District ordered briefing on the issue of jurisdiction, and ultimately accepted jurisdiction over this case on August 27, 2004.

Approximately five months after the case was fully briefed, the Fourth District issued an order transferring this case to the Circuit Court based upon a purported lack of jurisdiction.

State v. Ratner, 30 Fla. L. Weekly D851 (Fla. 4th DCA Mar. 30, 2005). The State filed an extensive motion for rehearing, rehearing en banc, certification of conflict, and/or certification of questions of great public importance detailing how the Fourth District had jurisdiction over this case. The Fourth District withdrew its previous opinion and subsequently issued a nearly identical opinion transferring this case to the Circuit Court. State v. Ratner, 902 So. 2d 267 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). The State appealed from the Fourth District's decision and also filed a notice to invoke this Court's discretionary jurisdiction. On October 12, 2005, this Court accepted jurisdiction over the instant case.

ARGUMENT

POINT I

SHOULD THE DECISION OF THE UNTIED STATES SUPREME COURT IN <u>CRAWFORD V. WASHINGTON</u>, 541 U.S. 36 (2004) BE INTERPRETED TO PRECLUDE THE ADMISSION OF A STATEMENT WHICH WOULD OTHERWISE BE ADMISSIBLE UNDER THE EXCITED UTTERANCE EXCEPTION TO HEARSAY?

The State respectfully requests the Court entertain this issue due to its great public importance and wide-ranging implications, especially in domestic violence cases. Although the <u>Crawford</u> issue did not form the basis of this Court's jurisdiction, the law is clear that "once the Court grants jurisdiction, it may, in its discretion, address other issues

properly raised and argued before the Court." State v. T.G., 800 So. 2d 204, 210 n.4 (Fla. 2001); Hall v. State, 752 So. 2d 575, 577 n.2 (Fla. 2000)("Once we have conflict jurisdiction, we have jurisdiction to decide all issues necessary to a full and final resolution."). Due to the constitutional nature of the issue raised, and the split among the district courts that have addressed the subject, this Court should resolve whether excited utterances remain admissible in the wake of Crawford.

The State's motion in limine requested the victim's statement to law enforcement be admitted into evidence at trial under the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule. (R. 86-88). The trial court denied the State's motion in limine based upon the United States Supreme Court's decision in Crawford, and certified a question of great public importance. (R. 218-219). The State respectfully submits the trial court erroneously denied the motion in limine, and that Crawford does not preclude the admission of excited utterances because such statements are nontestimonial. This issue involves a pure question of law, and the proper standard of review is de novo.

See Demps v. State, 761 So. 2d 302, 306 (Fla. 2000).

In <u>Crawford</u>, the defendant (Crawford) was charged with assault and attempted murder for stabbing a man who allegedly attempted to rape Crawford's wife (Sylvia). Law enforcement

interrogated Crawford and Sylvia about the incident and obtained statements from both of them. Crawford's account of the attack varied from the description given by Sylvia. At trial, Crawford claimed he acted in self-defense, and Sylvia did not testify because of the state marital privilege. The prosecution introduced Sylvia's tape-recorded statement into evidence under the hearsay exception for statements against one's penal interest. Crawford claimed the admission of Sylvia's statement violated his rights under the Confrontation Clause of the United States Constitution.

The trial court admitted Sylvia's statement into evidence because it bore "adequate indicia of reliability" under the United States Supreme Court's decision in Ohio v. Roberts, 448 U.S. 56 (1980). The jury convicted Crawford of assault. Crawford's Washington Supreme Court ultimately upheld conviction, and the United States Supreme Court certiorari to determine whether the prosecution's Sylvia's statement violated the Confrontation Clause. Crawford, 541 U.S. at 42. The Supreme Court held that the admission of Sylvia's "testimonial" hearsay statements pursuant "adequate indicia of reliability" test espoused in Roberts violated the Confrontation Clause.

In <u>Crawford</u>, the Supreme Court differentiated between nontestimonial and testimonial hearsay and stated:

Where nontestimonial hearsay is at issue, it is wholly consistent with the Framers' design to afford the States flexibility in their development of hearsay law - as does Roberts, and as would an approach that exempted such statements from Confrontation Clause scrutiny altogether. Where testimonial evidence is at issue, however, the Sixth Amendment demands what the common law required: unavailability and a prior opportunity for cross-examination.

Crawford, 541 U.S. at 68. The Supreme Court expressly chose not to comprehensively define testimonial hearsay finding only that "it applies at a minimum to prior testimony at a preliminary hearing, before a grand jury, or at a former trial; and to police interrogations." Id. However, many post-Crawford decisions have analyzed whether excited utterances and their "first cousin" or "twin sibling," spontaneous statements, remain admissible in the wake of Crawford. Williams v. State, 714 So. 2d 462, 466 (Fla. 3d DCA 1998)(referring to spontaneous statements as "a first cousin if not the twin sibling of the excited utterance").

There is a split among the Florida District Courts of Appeal regarding whether excited utterances and spontaneous statements are testimonial in nature under <u>Crawford</u>. The Fifth and Third Districts embraced the majority view of American

and held that excited utterances and spontaneous statements, like the ones made by the victim in this case, are nontestimonial. Williams v. State, 909 So. 2d 599 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005)(excited utterances made to a 911 operator were not testimonial in nature); Towbridge v. State, 898 So. 2d 1205 (Fla. 3d DCA 2005)(spontaneous statement made to 911 operator was nontestimonial); Herrera-Vega v. State, 888 So. 2d 66, 67 (Fla. 5th DCA 2004)(spontaneous statement of juvenile victim was not testimonial); Anderson v. State, 111 P.3d 350, 354 (Alaska App. 2005)("The great majority of courts which considered this question have concluded that an utterance by a crime victim to a police officer, made in response to minimal questioning, is not testimonial."). First District, however, adopted the minority view and held that excited utterances may be testimonial in nature. Lopez v. State, 888 So. 2d 693, 700 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004)(excited utterance made to police officer was testimonial); Howard v. State, 902 So. 2d 878 (Fla. 1st DCA 2005). For the reasons set forth below, this Court should adopt the majority view of American courts and hold that excited utterances are nontestimonial under Crawford.

The excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule is "firmly rooted" in our jurisprudence and its origin predates the

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