IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NOS.: SC05-1007 & SC05-1009

LOWER TRIBUNAL NO.: 4D04-2513

STATE OF FLORIDA, Petitioner/Appellant,

V.

JEFFREY SCOTT RATNER, Respondent/Appellee.

RESPONDENT/APPELLEE'S ANSWER BRIEF ON THE MERITS

EISENBERG & FOUTS, P.A.

JAMES L. EISENBERG KAI LI ALOE FOUTS 250 AUSTRALIAN AVENUE, SOUTH SUITE 704 WEST PALM BEACH, FLORIDA 33401 561-659-2009

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT, JEFFREY SCOTT RATNER

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

does not." *Crawford* at 51. Furthermore, testimonial statements share certain characteristics including involving a declarant's knowing response to structured questioning in an investigative environment or a courtroom setting "where the declarant would reasonably expect that his or her responses might be used in future judicial proceedings." *United States v. Saget*, 377 F. 3d 223, 228 (2d Cir. 2004).

In *Crawford*, the Supreme Court stated that the primary object of the Sixth Amendment is testimonial hearsay "and interrogations by law enforcement officers fall squarely within that class." *Id.* at 53. The Court in *Crawford* concluded that interrogation by law enforcement officers constituted testimonial hearsay, and it was careful to note that it was using the term "interrogation" in the colloquial sense, not in the narrow, legal sense:

We use the term "interrogation" in its colloquial, rather than any technical legal, sense. *Cf. Rhode Island v. Innis*, 446 U.S. 291, 300-301, 100 S.Ct. 1682, 64 L.Ed.2d 297 (1980). Just as various definitions of "testimonial" exist, one can imagine various definitions of "interrogation," and we need not select among them in this case.

Id. at Footnote 4. The Court also acknowledged that

[s]tatements taken by police officers in the course of interrogations are also testimonial under even a narrow standard. Police interrogations bear a striking resemblance to examinations by justices of the peace in England. The statements are not *sworn* testimony, but the absence of oath was not dispositive.

Id. at 52. (Emphasis in original.). The Court continued, explaining how prosecutorial and investigative roles of modern-day law enforcement officers are the same as the prosecutorial role of the magistrates in England, and the civil law abuses the Confrontation Clause was designed to prevent. *Id. See also, United States v. Saner*, 313 F. Supp. 2d 896 (S.D.Ind. 2004) (confrontation clause barred use of conspirator's statement against coconspirator, where conspirator invoked his fifth amendment not to testify and his statements were made during interrogation which was not a custodial interrogation).

In the present case, Mrs. Ratner's statement is precisely the type of statement to which the United Supreme Court's decision in *Crawford* applies. Mrs. Ratner's statements, which were the product of police questioning, fall squarely within the realm of testimonial statements contemplated by the United States Supreme Court as discussed above. R. 3, 34, SR. 8.

More specifically, during deposition, on September 2, 2003, Officer Darville testified that he initiated the conversation with Mrs. Ratner through questioning. SR. 8. Officer Darville stated, "I stepped out of my vehicle and my exact words were, my goodness, what happened to you?" R. 8. Officer Darville further testified that Mrs. Ratner then replied to his question stating, "I want to report that my husband beat me up, punched me, knocked me down and kicked me in the face." SR. 9, 12, 14. It is clear, therefore, that Mrs. Ratner's statement was made

in response to questioning by Officer Darville, and as such, it is testimonial in nature.

In addition, Officer Darville is a law enforcement officer whose job involves the investigation and prosecution of crimes. He questioned Mrs. Ratner after she arrived at the police station/City Hall parking lot. SR. 8, 9, 10, 11. He testified that she appeared to have been injured and there was a clear inference that a crime may have occurred. R. 3, 14, 32-34, SR. 8, 11, 12-13, 14, 33, 36. In his official capacity, as a law enforcement officer, it would be reasonable only to expect that Officer Darville's questioning of Mrs. Ratner and the answers she gave were given with an eye toward litigation. He was not a friend who had a mere conversation with Mrs. Ratner. SR. 8. It is more than reasonable, therefore, to expect that an objective witness would believe Mrs. Ratner's answers to questioning by Officer Darville would be used prosecutorially and later at trial. See State v. Snowden, 385 Md. 64, 867 A.2d 314 (Md. 2005) (Court of Appeals in Maryland adopted standard of whether a statement was made under circumstances that would lead an objective declarant reasonably to believe that the statement would be available for use at a later trial).

In addition, Mrs. Ratner's exact words were, according to Officer Darville, *"I want to report* that my husband beat me up, punched me, knocked me down and kicked me in the face." R. 3, 14, 34, SR. 9, 12, 33, 34, SR. 9, 12, 14. (Emphasis added.). As such, Mrs. Ratner was not only making a "formal" statement, the kind to which *Crawford* specifically refers, but she was fully aware that her statement was formal as evidenced by her own words that she wanted to "report" what had happened. 124 S.Ct. at 1364. R. 3, 14, 34, SR. 9, 12, 33, 34, SR. 9, 12, 14.

Formality cannot be limited to courtroom procedures for then police and prosecutor questioning of a witness at the precinct, the witness' home, the prosecutor's office, or other locations would be outside the scope of the confrontation protections.

People v. Cortes, 4 Misc. 3d 575, 781 N.Y.S. 2d 401 (May 2, 2004) (court found contents of 911 phone call were product of interrogation and were testimonial in nature).¹ Mrs. Ratner's statement that she wanted to "report" what happened was to supply information to Officer Darville about the circumstances and who was involved. R. 3, 14, 34, SR. 9, 12, 33, 34, SR. 9, 12, 14. The purpose of the information to be included in the report, therefore, was for investigation, prosecution, and potential use at a later trial or judicial proceeding. "Like the victims and witnesses before the King's courts an objective reasonable person knows that when he or she reports a crime the statement will be used in an

¹But see, People v. Conyers, 777 N.Y.S. 2d 274 (N.Y. Sup. Ct. 2004); People v. *Moscat*, 777 N.Y.S. 2d 875 (N.Y. Crim. Ct. 2004) and *People v. Isaac*, 4 Misc. 3d 1001(A) 791 N.Y.S.2d 872 (Table, Text in WESTLAW), Unpublished Disposition, 2004 WL 1389219, 2004 N.Y. Slip Op. 50582(U), N.Y.Dist.Ct., Jun 16, 2004.

investigation and at proceedings relating to a prosecution." *Cortes*, 781 N.Y.S. 2d 401, 415.

Since Mrs. Ratner's report was for the purpose of invoking the police action and the prosecutorial process, the only use for her statement was for police investigation and state prosecution. As a result, Respondent is entitled to confront her as a witness under the Sixth Amendment. Absent such opportunity, Mrs. Ratner's statement is inadmissible at trial.

Mrs. Ratner's alleged statement was testimonial in nature. The state must be prohibited from circumventing Respondent's right to confront and cross-examine a witness against him by choosing not to call her for the purpose of testifying at trial. R. 87-89, 190-195, IB. 7-8. Since Mrs. Ratner is available to testify, the state cannot seek to admit into evidence at trial Mrs. Ratner's out-of-court statements under the guise of the excited utterance exception to the hearsay rule, rather than call her as a witness. R. 87-89, 190-195, 218, IB. 7-8.² The United States Supreme Court has entirely rejected the view that the Confrontation Clause applies only to in-court testimony and that the admissibility at trial of out-of-court testimony depends upon the rules of evidence. *See Crawford*, 541 U.S. 36, 50-51

²The trial court in its Amended Order found that the state advised the trial court that "it did not intend to call the available alleged victim as a witness at trial which gives rise to this issue regarding the application of Crawford as it relates to the confrontation clause." R. 218.

(2004). "Leaving the regulation of out-of-court statements to the law of evidence would render the Confrontation Clause powerless to prevent even the most flagrant inquisitorial practices." *Id.* at 51. The Supreme Court further explained that the Confrontation Clause's ultimate goal is to ensure reliability of evidence, but it is a procedural rather than a substantive guarantee. *Id.* at 61. The Confrontation Clause

commands, not that evidence be reliable, but that reliability be assessed in a particular manner: by testing in the crucible of cross-examination. The Clause thus reflects a judgment, not only about the desirability of reliable evidence (a point on which there could be little dissent), but about how reliability can best be determined.

Id. (Parenthetical in original.).

The United States Supreme Court has excluded testimony where the government failed to establish the unavailability of the witness even where the defendant had the opportunity to cross-examine. *See Crawford*, 541 U.S. 36, 57 (2004), *citing Barber v. Page*, 390 U.S. 719, 722-725, 88 S.Ct. 1318, 20 L.Ed.2d 255 (1968); *cf. Motes v. United States*, 178 U.S. 458, 470-471, 20 S.Ct. 993, 44 L.Ed. 1150 (1900). The state, therefore, must call Mrs. Ratner as a witness before attempting to admit any testimonial out-of-court statements she may have previously made. Specifically, Respondent must be afforded his right to confront

and cross-examine the testimony of the witnesses the state seeks to present against him.

[W]hen the declarant appears for cross-examination at trial, the Confrontation Clause places no constraints at all on the use of his prior testimonial statements . . . It is therefore irrelevant that the reliability of some out-of-court statements "cannot be replicated, even if the declarant testifies to the same matters in court." . . . The Clause does not bar admission of a statement so long as the declarant is present at trial to defend or explain it.

See Crawford, 541 U.S. 36, 59, Footnote 9 (2004) (Citations omitted.). Clearly, where a witness is available to testify and is called to the witness stand by the state, there is no Confrontation Clause issue because the defendant would have the opportunity to confront and cross-examine the witness. *See Snowden v. State*, 385 Md. 64, 867 A.2d 314 (Md. Feb 07, 2005) (Because the State did not establish that the children were unavailable to testify, hearsay statements admitted did not satisfy either of the two (2) *Crawford* foundational requirements.).

The state's suggestion that this Court should adopt the "forfeiture by wrongdoing" rule is absurd, especially in light of the fact that Mrs. Ratner is not "unavailable" as a witness. Under the rule, not only would Mrs. Ratner have to be unavailable to testify for purposes of trial, but Respondent would have to have done some wrongful act to procure Mrs. Ratner's unavailability. In the cases cited by state for this proposition, wrongdoing on the part of the defendant with the

intent of causing a witness to be unavailable is required. *See State v. Wright*, 701 N.W. 2d 802 (Minn. 2005). The court in *Wright*, specifically stated that

[i]n Minnesota, a defendant will be found to have forfeited by his own wrongdoing his right to confront a witness against him if the state proves that the defendant engaged in wrongful conduct, that he intended to procure the witness's unavailability, and that the wrongful conduct actually did procure the witness's unavailability.

701 N.W. 2d at 814-815. *See also People v. Moore*, 117 P.3d 1, 5 (Colo. Ct. App. 2004) (homicide defendant forfeited violation of confrontation claim in past act of domestic violence where victim was unavailable because of her death which was caused by defendant). In citing *Commonwealth v. Edwards*, 830 N.E. 2d 158, 165-168 (Mass. 2005), the state concedes that the defendant must have murdered, threatened or intimidated a witness in an effort to procure the witness' unavailability.

In this case, there are no facts to support the state's claim of wrongdoing on the part of Respondent with regard to Mrs. Ratner's availability. Rather, the facts are clear that Mrs. Ratner declined to give a statement and declined to go to the hospital while at the Ocean Ridge Public Safety Department before returning to the home where the Respondent was located. R. 14-15, SR. 16-18. In addition, according to Officer Darville, prior to returning to the home and while still at the Ocean Ridge Public Safety Department, Mrs. Ratner became uncooperative. SR. 17. As a result, it is clear that Mrs. Ratner had second thoughts about the report she made to Officer Darville while at the Ocean Ridge Public Safety Department.

The state asserts that according to Officer Darville, Mrs. Ratner's attitude and demeanor changed once she arrived home, that she appeared sheepish and controlled, and that she dropped her head and would not look Respondent in the eye. SR. 22-24. The state's implication is that Mrs. Ratner's change of attitude and demeanor stems from some unknown wrongdoing on the part of Respondent once she returned to the home. All of Mrs. Ratner's actions, however, could just as easily be explained by a false report made to Officer Darville about what actually happened. This point is moot, however, since Mrs. Ratner is available to testify at trial if called.

Adopting the position that a person, who is criminally accused in a domestic violence case, should forfeit his or her right to confront and cross examine his or her accusers flies in the face of all constitutional principles and protections. If courts were willing to take the state's position, all criminally accused persons, even the innocent accused, would not have the right to confront their accusers and the right to confrontation would be nil and void.

It is true that Florida public policy is directed at reducing domestic violence. It is the public policy of all states to reduce violence overall. However, it is also in the interest of public policy that the constitutional rights guaranteed to the criminally accused be upheld and paramount. Public policy regarding domestic violence cases cannot trump the constitutional rights of the criminally accused and the Sixth Amendment right to confront and cross examine. All domestic violence cases therefore, involving out of court statements, their admissibility and whether such statements violate one's right to confrontation under the Sixth Amendment, must be decided on a case by case basis.

Even if the trial court had determined that Mrs. Ratner's alleged statement was an excited utterance, the First District in *Lopez v. State*, 888 So. 2d 693, 697 (Fla. 1st DCA 2004) explained it does not necessarily mean that it is admissible in evidence. "An out of court statement is not admissible merely because it meets the definition of an excited utterance." *Id.* at 697. The First District further explained that a statement that "meets the definition of an excited utterance does not guarantee its admission in evidence at a trial or hearing, but only that it will not be excluded on the ground that it is hearsay." *Id.* at 697. Clearly, a statement might be inadmissible for other reasons, such that it violates the Confrontation Clause of the Sixth Amendment. As a result, the First District found that excited utterances cannot "automatically be excluded from a class of testimonial statements." Id. at 699. The First District explained further:

the findings necessary to support a conclusion that a statement was an excited utterance do not conflict with those that are necessary to support a conclusion that it was testimonial. A statement made in the excitement of a startling event is likely to be more reliable given the fact that the declarant had little time to make up a story. But, under *Crawford*, reliability has no bearing on the question of whether a statement was testimonial. Some testimonial statements are reliable and others are not . . . a startled person who identifies a suspect in a statement made to a police officer at the scene of a crime surely knows that the statement is a form of accusation that will be used against the suspect. In this situation, the statement does not lose its character as a testimonial statement merely because the declarant was excited at the time it was made.

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